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\vhen in 1792 "Nevr-Hope Chappel hill in Orange county" vias selected 
as the site of the University of North Carolina, ;Lav1yer vfilliam R. Davie, 
later kn01m as the Father of the University," gave an enthusiastic 
description of the spot: 

. The seat of the University is on the swmni t of a very high ridge 
[and' the village ] . • . is situated on a handsome plain • . . so 
greatly elevated above the neighboring country, as to furnish an 
exten~ive and beautiful landscape .... [It is] excelled by fevl 
places in the world, either for beauty or situation or salubrity 
of air [and] promises, t-rith all moral certainty, to be a place of 
growing ill)d permanent importance. 

. . I - . 
1•. • - • • • ' • • J 

On this well-chosen site the university greH beyond Davie's wildest dreams 
·'· .· . ! . . 

but it, together 1'f.ith the villagE!. that greH ;lith it, retained--and even 
enhanced--the natural beauty of the setting, developing Hith the years a 
special charm and character that have endGared the place to -those 1-rho 
have lived or studied there. By the early ttl8ntieth century, Chapel Hill 
Has flourishing, and as one of its most famous alumni, Tho~n.s \volfe, 
described it (thinly disguised as "Pulpit Hill") in Look HomeHard, Angel, 

..• the university Has a charming, .an unforgettable place .... 
One burst suddenly, at the hill-top, on the end of a straggling 
village street, flanked by faculty hpuses and v1inding a mile in to 
the town centre and the university. The central campus sloped back 
and up over a broad area of rich turf, groved Hith magnific'ient 

, ,_;, 91\cient. trees .... A ,quadrangfe of post-Revolutionary buildings of 
· Heathered brick bounded the upper end: other neviSr buildings, in 

.the modern bad manner (the Pedagogic Neo-Greeky), Here ·scatte'red 
around beyond the central design r beyond, there vms a thickly 

: ·' ,_forested_. 1-1ilderness. . • . 

In the half-century since '!'nomas \'/olfe: stud.ied at the university, 
Chapel Hill has grovm rapidly. Much of the forest beyond the campus now 
holds high-rise dormitories and a vast medical ,CE)l)te:r:., ,-The s;tpaggling 
village has grovm to a small, rather cosmopolitan tovm. But the central 
campus he described J-Ji th its great trees is still much as he sal-T it. 
Further, parts of the t01m itself still retain an intimate, leisurely 
atmosphere, derived to a great extent from the narrov1 streets v1ith names 
like Friendly Lane and Rosemary Street; J-Jalkvmys often of brick .C/r. dirt 
instead of concrete; old houses 1-Ti th l·lide lalms bordered, like much of the 
campus, by low stone walls; and, perhaps most important, the trees. 
William Meade Prince said in his memoir of Chapel Hill, The Southern 
Part of Heaven, "The trees and floJ-Jers of Chapel Hill are unforgettable. 
The great, protective trees are everYJ-Ihere--pine, hardwood, evergreen-­
and make the village seem still a part of the forest J-Jhich once covered 
this whole section." 
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Perhaps nm<here is the adage, "The >~hole is more than the sum of its 
parts, 11 more applicable than in Chapel Hill • The significance of its many 
fine individual structures is considerable; excellent examples of collegiate 
domestic, and ecclesiastical archi tectm'8 stand on the campus and nearby. 
The follo>~ing descriptions of the more notoHorthy of these represent but a 
part of the unique appeal of Chapel Hill. Each is numbered Hith reference 
to the accompanying maps. (For a description of the boundaries of the distri t, 
see continuation sheet of Item 2, "Location.") 

Although considered as one district, for convenience the Chapel Hill 
Historic District may be divided into three areas: 

r. University campus Rrea (the older, central part of the campus, 
including academic buildings and university landmarks) ; 

rr. East Franklin Street and East Rosemary Street area (the primarily 
residential area that greH up Hith the university); 

III. Battle Parle area (Battle Park, adjoining the campus; Sml:tc, home ) 
of former university president, Kemp Battle, for Hhom the park is named; 
Gimghoul Castle, a landmark of the park) . 

The university campus area, consisting of the northern quadrangle 
centering on a tree-lined open space (named McCorkle Place in the early 1930c), 
includes the oldest buildings of the campus as Hell as a number of somet<hat 
later ones. Reflecting the various architectural styles popular for 

college campus buildings, these structures provide an interesting overview 
of the development of collegiate architecture from the late eighteenth to 
the early tHentieth century, Prominent among them are examples of Classic 
Revival, Jacobethan Revival, and various eclectic Neo-Classic Revival styles, 
each vie1·1ed at the time of its popularity as particularly sui table for use 
on a college campus because of its derivation from and evocation of a time 
and place--be it ancient Athens and Rome or medieval Oxford--Hhere learning 
Has at its height. 

The small group of buildings and landmarks that made up the university 
before the Civil War tvill be described first, for it provides the nucleus 
of the campus. This Hill be ilil.lml8d by descriptions of the later nineteenth 
century and early and middle tHentieth century buildings that greH up around 
the older group. 

1. Davie Poplar. The giant listing tree centrally located in McCorkle 
Place is sometimes called a yellm1 poplar because of its soft yellov1 1-TOod, 
but in fact is a member of the magnolia family. Fortunately this venerable 
ivy-entwined tree lvith its "umbrageous limbs" has not been sacrificed to 
the spirit of progress but stands accompanied by Davie Poplar, Jr, The 
smaller tree Has grafted from a shoot of its parent tree and planted east 
of it on March 16, 1918, by the class of 1918, 
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2. Old East. Completed in 1795, Old East stands not far from the 

Davie Poplar. Constructed of orick laid in Flemish bond, it 1-ms originally 
a t1·10-story structure ten bays long, measuring 96 feet, 7 inches by 40 feet, 
1l,z inches. There Here doors in the third bay from ei tmr end of the first 
floor. In 1822 a third story Has added, and in 1844 the noted architect, 
A. J, Davis, made a five-bay addition at the northern end. It was probably 
at this time that the building received its simple bracket cornice typical 
of Davis 1 s Italianate style. Both of the later additions 1-1ere done in common 
bond, All the present lvindows have six-over-six sash. 

3. Old west. Old West, directly across the quadrangle from Old East, 
1ms built in 1822 to match the older structure, Hhich vias remodeled in that 
year. Except for the bond of the brick (Old East is Flemish; Old \vest is 
common), the buildings were at completion virtually identical three-story, 
ten-bay structures. In 1844, again like Old East, Old West 1-1as given a 
five-bay extension and bracket cornice by A. J. Davis. 

4- South Building. Begun in 1798 to close that end of the original 
quadrangle of the university, South Building dominates the old section of 
the campus ly virtue of its size and design. The building is three stories 
high, measuring 120 by 50 feet, 1-li th a pedimented roof. A three -bay pedi­
mented pavilion projects from the center of the north facade. The 1-1alls 
on either side are four bays Hide. All windov1s contain six-over-six sash 
and have plastered splayed lintrus. At the center of the roof is an octagonal 
louvered cupola Hith an agee-shaped roof. On the south facade is a heroic 
Ionic tetrastyle pol~co added in 1927, as Has the elaborate stone cornice. 
The door on the south side, a copy of that at Westover, Virginia, derived 
from Plate XXVI of Pa~ladio Londinensis, may have been added at the same 
time, but it appears more likely that it Has installed as early as 1897-
A 1923 letter from President Alderman indicates the vlestover door Has added 
during his 1897 beautification of the campus. The 1927 additions, together 
Hith a complete renovation of the building, Here done by Arthur c. Nash and 
the consulting architects' firm of McKim, Mead, and White. 

5. Old v/ell. The Old Well stands in the middle ofthe opon~ended quadra· gle 
described by Old East, Old West, and South Building. The tholos temple-form 
cover consists of a circular stylobate bearing eight fluted Doric columns 
supporting a lo1-1 dome. Like many similar landscape ornaments, which were 
popular in America in the nineteenth century, it may derive from tm "Temple 
of Love" at Petit Trianon at Versailles. President Alderman, Hho initiated 
the replacement of the earlier Hell-cover, Hrote, "our little Hell is ... 
a sort of sixth cousin of a Greek shrine, or third cousin of the Temple Vesta 
[Tivoli], or second cousin of the Temple at Versailles." 
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6. Person Hall. The east lving of the present H-shaped building Has 
completed in 1797 to serve as the Uni varsity Chapel. This original Hing, 
36 by 54 feet, is of brick laid in Flemish bond I'Ti th tHo arched HindovTS 
on either end and five HindmTS on the sides. The center section and the 
I·Test Hing, constructed later, are built of brick laid in common bond. The 
central section, 70 feet by 30 feet, has been remodeled Hi th the I'Talls on 
both sides being :robuilt above the Hater table and containing six blind 
round-headed arches. On the north and south I·Talls are statues that are nearl 
engulfed by luxuriant ivy. On the northrall is a cast metal statue of a 
young man restraining a Hild horse. On the south YTall, standing on a granite 
base is a sandstone statue of Stephen Langton (died 1228), the English 
cardinal and archbishop of Canterbury Hho played a central role in the framin 
of the Magna Carta.. It is flanked by g;rgoyles. 

7, Gerrard Hall. Gerrard Hall, begun in 1822, Has designed by loJ'illiam 
Nichols, the architect of Old vlest and renovator of Old East. It is a simple 
rectangular building of brick laid in common bond. The east facade features 
trTO double doors Hi th simple flat arches. The south side, Hhich appears 
originally to have been the front of the building, nm1 has seven bays Hhich 
feature in each story a large HindoH 1<ith tHelve-over-t;mlve sash surmounted 
by a fine flat arch. This front had a full-heigh,t portico added by A. J, 
Davis in 1844 and removed about 1900. Traces of the portico may be seen in 
the brick projections that flank the three central bays; these I'Tere the 
pilasters that complemented the pillars of the portico. 

8, Playmakers Theatre. Playmakers Theatre, subject of a previous 
nomination (April 13, 1971), is certainly one of the finest temple-form 
buildings in North Carolina and one of the most interesting in the country. 
Completed in 1851, its design by Alexander Jackson Davis is one of the most 
inventive and subtle of its type. The building features a prostyle tetra­
style portico Hhich is particularly remarkable for its Corinthian-like 
capitals in which ihe usual acanthus leaves are replaced by whe<;t, corn, 
and tobacco, representing cr.ops grorm in the state. 

'• 

9. New East. Ne11 East <ras built immediately before the Civil lvar by 
\•Iilli am Percival. He designed New East and its companion structure NeH \Vest 
in his personal version of the Renaissance Revival style, combining aspects 
of both the Romano-Tuscan and North Italian modes. The main facades of New 
East are four stories in height Hith the upper tYTo floors expressed as a 
piano nobile. This.horizontality is counteracted by vertical pilasters 
delineating the five central bays of the eleven-bay facades, as Hell as by 
decorative recessed panels above and beloVT thl top rTindm·TS, l'lhich add height 
to the center sections. By such subtle use of architectural elements, 

I 

Percival created an interesting composition out of !'That VTould other1·Tise have 
been a simple rectangular mass. The refined use of proportion and scale and 
the lack of any elaborate ornament, save the simple Italianate bracket corni e, 
make NaVT East one of the most architectonic buildings on the campus. 
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10. New lvest. Ne11 \Vest is virtually identical to Nevr East Hi th the 
exception that New 1V est is three instead of four stories; NeH East being on 
a lol'ler ground level requires qn extra story. The variation makes the tvTO 
buildings quite different in outline and in feeling. Percival Has a master 
of proportion and massing, and his juxtaposition of the t1·ro buildings is, 
in effect, a tour de force in the.uses of these most important design princi les. 

11. The Joseph Caldi·rell Monument. Tne Joseph CaldHell Monument, 
dedicated June 2, 1858, is an obelisk of white marble over t11enty feet in 
height standing half11ay betl'leen the South Building mul FranKlin .Simot • On thE! 
obelisk is a tablet on lvhich is a railroad Hheel, an engineer's transit, 
and the Bible, emblems of Dr. CaldHell' s service to the state and to 
religion. Inscriptions on the monument memorialize Dr. Caldvmll, his l·rife, 
and her son, as Hell as Dr. CalaHell' s contributions to the development 
of the university. 

The buildings and landmarks described above (vlith the exceptions of 
the l·rell-cover, l'lhich replaced an earlier one, and the later additions to 
and remodelings of various buildings) are all that remain of the University 
of North Carolina as it Has he fore the coming of the Civil l-Iar. After the 
Har, many years passed before nel"l buildings Here added to the campus, but 
in the late nineteenth century and early t1·rentieth century, a great many 
nel-l structures l·l9re needed to keep pace !·lith the grovrth of the university. 
A number of these Here designed by Frank Jl"dlburn, an archi teet whose work 
l"las "typical of nineteenth century eclectics, 11 and Hho designed numerous 
public and private structures in the South. Also important in the tHentieth 
century development of the campus vras the NeH York firm of McKim, Mead, and 
vfuite, Hho served as consulting architects on several buildings. 

12. Memorial Hall. Memorial Hall's main section is three stories 
high and seven bays Hide l·Ti th a tHo-story five -bay hexastyle portico that 
features Tuscan columns. The heavy dentil cornice at the top of the portico 

·continues across the facade. The seven-bay sides feature doors Hi th elabo­
rate classical detail. To the rear is a large l"lindDl·rless section, flanked 
by plain tvro-story sections that accomodate the stage and backstage areas. 

13. The Y.\V.C.A.--Y.M.C.A. Building. This structure is typical of 
the Jacobe than Revival style that Has popular for collegiate building in 
the first decades of this century. This simple stucco building designed 
by Frank Milburn is one of the more restrained examples of the style. The 
basis of the design lies in the relationship of geometric masses rather 
than in elaborate ornamentation ·and varying textures. A projecting central 
pavilion topped by a steep gable is flanked by single bays, and the l"lhole 
terminates in a solid parapet. Each corner of the building is emphasized 
by simple quoins, l'fhich are the only rustication. Above the parapet rises 
the high hip roof--in contrast to· the loH hidden roof or elaborately orna­
mented roof more typical of the style. It is the simplicity of design and 
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and the subtle play of projected and recessed masses that make this building 
an unusual and outstanding example of its style, 

14. Carr Building. This three-story gray brick and store structure in 
the eclectic Neo-Classical style consists of a central pavilion l·r.ith Hings. 
The main (Hast) entrance is distinguished by eight small Ionic columns 
supporting an intersecting arcade; the north entrance employs a smaller 
version of the same scheme, Atop the Hest and south pediments are a horse's 
head and a stone v1inged creature, respectively. 

1 S. BY11um Hall; 16. Davie Hall; 17 . HoHell Hall; 18. Alumni Building. 
All of these buildings Here designed around the turn of the tHentieth centur 
by Frank }lilburn in the eclectic "Beaux ·Arts" style then popular. They 
are of different sizes and vary in detail, but all are of gray pressed brick 
and feature a raised piano nobile. These buildings exhibit a Health of 
classically-derived ornament, including several different kinds of porticos, 
modillion and dentil cornices, pediments, and elaborate HindoH treatments. 

19. The Norehead Planetarium. Completed in 1949, the planetarium is 
a red brick building in the eclectic classical style, one of the last of 
the major campus structures built in such a 'style. It features a monumenta 
hexastyle Ionic portico and a lol·l semis'i!uerical dome. The planetarium's 
design Has inspired by the Pantheon in ~me and by another version of that 
antique model, Jefferson's Rotunda at the University of Virginia. Tois 

adaptation of a Roman temple to house a major scientific center is a.rather 
irmic use. 

20. Spencer Hall. Designed by the local architectural firm of At1wod 
and Nash Hith NcKim, Nead, and vfuite as consulting architects, and built in 
1924, Spencer Hall is an example of the "Georgian" Revival style popular in 
the early and middle tHentieth century for campus buildings. It is built of 
red brick laid in Flemish bond and features porches supported by Doric colum s 
gable dormers, and l'lindoHs containing eight-over-eight sash and accented by 
dark green shutters. 

21 . The Coker Aboretum. Covering an area of about five acres of Hhich 
the southern part Has originally a Sl<amp and the northern part pasture, the 
arboretum contains a collection of native and ornamental trees and shrubs 
that has been described as "one of the lovliest small naturalistic gardens 
in the United States." It is noted for its pergola covered by three species 
of lvisterias in addition to yellmv jessamine and Lady Banksia roses. Out­
standing among the native trees are Wal tar's pine, l1agnolia cordata, and 
Marshall's thorn (a red haw), and among the shrubs, different species of 
spice bush, shrubby buckeyes, and the compact evergreen (Thea sinensis). 
Ground covers such as the trailing Euonymus and bulbs like the spider lily 
are fow1d throughout the arboretum. 
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22. Graham Hemorial. Also designed by A t~rood and Nash, this structure 
1vas built in tho "Georgian" Revival style made popular by the designs of the 
finn of NcKim, Mead, and White, ''hoHere consulting architects for the 
building. 1heir use of brick 11ith Hhi to stone or painted classical trim 

! 

made tllis idiom one of the most popular modes of t1·rentieth century insti tu­
tional building, and the campus at Chapel Hill includes a number of buildjng · 
in the mode, 11hich might >rell be called 11 \>J.P .A. classicism. 11 The building 
features a full-height octastyle Tuscan portico on the main (11est) front. 
The portico is not pedimented but is surmounted by an open balustrade that 
is treated as a solid brick parapet on the rest of the building. On the 
sides are pedimented pavilions and on the rear a seven-bay pavilion marked 
by pilasters and an open balustrade. 

23. Battle-Vance-Pettigre11 Dormitory. This complex, built in 1913 
from designs by Hilburn's firm is a perfect example of the Jacobethan Reviva 
style >rith its complex roof lines, gargoyles, and diamond-paned oriels. 
The Rlttigre11 and Vance sections have large steep gables Hi th subsidiary step 
and feature three-story projections l·rith diamond-paned bay 11indo11s above 
portals on the first floor. The Battle section is some11hat different, for 
the >rhole of its eastern facade is covered by one large gable of a design 
similar to those of the other tvro buildings and it lacks the bay-Hindo11 
entrance motif, Instead, the entrance is through an archvray. 

24. Hill Hall. Yet another early tHentieth century design in Hilburn' 
eclectic style, this building features the raised piano nobile and elaborate 
classically derived ornamental details, including a monumental concrete 
medallion at the roof line depicting a boo!,, cornuc,opia, and torch of larnin . 
To the south side is a 1930 red brick Nee-Georgian addition. 

25. Smith Building. Smith Building, a 1901 Vdlburn design in the 
Jacobethan Revival style, is of red brick and features a five-bay projection 
flanked by t>IO more bays set back the vlidth of a room. An ornamental 
extension of the facade continues above the roofline in the front, 11hile 
the back of the building features a steep-pitched roof broken by small 
ornamental gables. 

26. The Non~lf.ent of the Confederate Soldier. A statue of a Confederat 
soldier l·Ti th his rifle poised for action stands atop a granite pedestal in 
the green that slopes gently dovm to Franklin Street. 

As the univers:]:ty gre1·1, so did the village that adjoined and for the 
most part centered its life upon the uni varsity. Along the streets near 
the campus are a number of interesting structures including churches and 
residences. These exist in greatest concentration along both sides of East 
Franklin Street for several blocks east of the campus (those on the south 
side Hill be described first, running east from the campus, then those on 
the north, returning east to >rest) and along the north side of Rosemary 
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Street, l·lhic h runs north of and parallel to Franklin, Several styles of 
architecture are represented--typical nineteenth century gable -roof houses, 
Greek and Gothic Revival, and the "Colonial Revival" and shingle-style 
popular in the early tlventieth century--but most of the houses are frame 
and feature Hide verandahs, and all blend pleasantly into a harmonious Hhole 

27. The Chapel of the Cross. This small EPiscopal chapel, vlhich Hill 
be nominated separately, is one of the best examples of the Early Gothic 
Revival in North Carolina. The main front, facing Franklin Street, features 
a central crenellated to;mr entered through a four-centered arch beneath a 
\woden crocketed ogee molding. The tol'ler is flanked by large HindoHs Hi th 
tlw trefoil-headed panels united by a quatrefoil in the point of the arch. 
The four-bay sides are marked by buttresses betvl9en vr.i.ndoHs like those of 
the front. The large addition and a parish house !fare constructed in har­
monizing styles. The buildings have an idyllic setting among the magnolia 
and crepe myrtle trees. 

28, The President's HousSJ, The President 1 s House at the southeast 
corner of Franklin and Raleigh streets is closely related to the buildings 
of the Georgian and Neo-Classic Revivals, but it Has probably considered 
to be "Colonial Revival" at the time of its erection about the turn of the 
last century. The tlw-story house 1·1ith hip roof features a l·lell-executed 
:Corinthian portico l·r.i. th pairs a: columns on either side. Beneath the 
portico runs a one-story verandah supported by Ionic columns v1hich carries 
around three sides of the house. 

29. The Spencer House. The Spencer House east of the President's 
House is a rambling one-story frame structure Hith a verandah along the 
front and part of'one side. Tne picturesque quality of the verandah is 
heightened by the coupling of the columns and the use of pedimented projec­
tions at each of tv10 entrances. These pediments, together Hith several 
decorative gables, have gi van the house the name, "The House of the Seven 
Gables." 

30. Dr. CaldvTGll' s Meridian. To the rear of the Spencer House is a 
lane leading to l'lhat is knmm as "Dr. Caldl'lell' s Meridian, 11 situated to the 
rear of the president's house. Here is a boHer sheltering tvro square brick 
pillars about seven feet high, fourteen inches square, and fbur feet apart. 
A nearby tablet bears the inscription, "Meridian pillars built by Joseph 
Caldv19ll, President of the University of North Carolina, 1804-1812, 1816-18 5, 
shortly after his return from a trip to England in 1824-1825 for the pro- ' 
curement of Astronomical Instruments and Books." 
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31. The Phillips Law Office. On the northeast corner of Franklin 
and Raleigh streets is a delightful architectural folly built of stuccoed 
brick. It is T-shaped in plan with the foot of the T formed by a curious 
entrance porch featuring a semicircular arch resting on piers vri th molded 
caps. The l'lhole is surmounted by a stepped gable. Beneath the porch are 
t;w Greek Revival doors composed of t;1o vertical panels each. The ceiling 
is in the form of a barrel vault. On either side of the porch are single 
bays con te.ining vrindows with six-over-six sash. The ends of the building 
are pedimented and have single l'lindo;IS like those 'of the front. THo 
similar l'lindm·ls appear on the rear. A paneled chimney rises in the center 
of the roof, and double buttresses occur at each corner of the building. 
All the Halls have scored and painted rustication of a disproportionately 
large scale which, together l·li th the rather small Hind01·1s, makes the 
structure appear smaller than it actually is. 

32. The Phillips House. Just east of Franklin Street from the lat·l 
office is a t;w-story building covered ;lith plain clapboards. It Has built 
in 1856. Tne gable roof is trirmned ;1ith a typical Greek Revival cornice. 
The l·lindm;s, framed by molded architraves 1·1i th simple comer blocks, are 
unusual in that they have shallow segmental heads and are divided by 
thick \Woden mullions, a treatment rarely found in vernacular Greek Revival 
buildings. All ;lindm;s are fixed with green louvered blinds. A one-story 
verandah, added near the end of the nineteenth century and of a typical 
Queen Anne style, runs along the front and one side of the house, brealcing 
out at the corner in a circular projection. 

33, The Widm·l Puckett House. Farther east on Franklin Street is one 
of the earliest houses in Chapel Hill. It has a side-hall plan three bays 
l·lide, typical of the Federal period to1m houses found in Ne1; Bern. Tne 
house is built of heavy ;~eatherboards finished with an unusually broad 
ovalo molding and features simple beaded verge boards, a box cornice, and 
a one -story porch across the front 1·1i th trellis supports. On the left side 
are tHo tall straight-sided chimneys of brick laid in conrrnon bond. A rear 
t1;o-story addition and several one -story additions have enlarged the house. 
On the interior are several flat-paneled Federal mantels and doors Hith 
raised panels and H-1 hinges. 

34. The Presbyterian Manse. The Presbyterian l1anse is a three-bay, 
tHo-story frame house featuring the hip roof, large HindoHs, and plain 
cornice Hi th l·lide overhang typical of the Greek Revival. Th.e one-story 
front porch is probably original. 

35. The Cobb House, The Cobb House, east of the Presbyterian l1a.nse, 
is an unusual frame structure built about the turn of the twentieth century. 
It is impossible to attribute any particular architectural style to the 
house, Its moldings, lunettes, and Palladian HindoH would indicate the 
Classical Revival; its sash design Hith intersecting geometric muntins, 
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the Gothic Revival; and its roof form, the Bungaloid. It might best be 
described as Campus-Psuedo-Eclectic. 

36. The Horace \filliams House. Northeast of the Cobb House, set 
\·Tell back from Franklin Street, is an irregular d1·relling resulting from a 
number of one-story additions to an original nucleus said to have been 
hexagonal in shape. Among the features of the various sections, Hhich 
intersect at vPrious angles, are a curious circular chimney, a small flat­
roof Eastlake-style porch above 1·1hich is a gable containing a large lunette 
surmounted by a tiny arched louvered vent, and several different roof forms. 

37. The Umstead House. Screened from Franklin Street by a pleasantly 
landscaped Hooded lot, this tv10-story frame house has a full-length one­
story shed porch. At the first level, each of the six bays is marked by a 
pair of French doors opening onto the porch. 

38. The Ho11e House, This tHo-story frame house, like many of the early 
tHentieth-century houses in Chapel Hill, is covered Hith 11eatherboards and 
features a 11ide, full-length one-story porch overlooking a 1woded lot. 

39. The LaHson House. Near the southeast corner of Franklin Street 
and Boundary Street is an interesting example of the Bungaloid style. 
This is the LaHson House l·lhich features a four-bay verandah Hith solid, 
shingle-covered balustrade and posts. The high steeply pitched roof has 
a large central pedimented dormer. Among the interesting features of the 
house are the shingle patterns under the eaves, the unusual, slightly 
curved vlind<M projections, and the two-story Hing, a blatant exception 
from the Bungaloid sty].e, VThich Has based generally on the principle of 
making all houses appear to be either one or one-and-a-half stories in 
height. 

40. The Kennette House. Near the southHest corner of Franklin and 
Boundary streets is one of the most interesting and unusual structures in 
Chapel Hill. A long, rectangular structure perpendicular to the street, 
the street facade of the Kennette House is treated as one-and-a-half stories, 
though most of the building is t1·1o stories in height. More in the Shingle 
style than in any other, the Kennette House features varying roof forms, 
irregularly shaped porches, a profusion of dormers, and shingle siding. 

. ' 

.. 

, .. .. 
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41, The Hooper-Kyser House, The Hooper-Kyser House stands at the 
southeast corner of Franklin Street and lhttle Lane. The original section 
of the house, constructed about 1820, consisted of a t•,ro-story structure' 
of a hall-and-parlor plan. Later the house ~ras enlarged by a tHo-story 
addition along the rear. The whole is covered Hith beaded Heatherboards, 
and there is brick nogging Hi thin the Halls of the earliest portion. At 
either end are straight-sided single-shoulder exterior chimneys, unusual 
in that the sides are laid in Flemish bond, vrhile the backs are in English 
bond. The three-bay street facade originally featured a small pedimented 
porch, the roof of Hhich forms the central feature of the one-story verandah 
that runs the length of the front and part of the left side. 

42, Dey House. This simple tHo-story frame structure, covered 1-1i th 
plain >matherboards, is three bays Hide l·Tith a central doonray flanlEd by 
sidelights. The entrance is sheltered by a small one-bay porch >lith a 
broken pediment. .At .either end of the house are straight-sided single­
shouldered chimneys covered Hith stucco. 

43. Mangum-Smith 
mid-nineteenth century 
additions to the rear. 
Betty Smith. 

House. This frame house was originally a typical 
t1w-story, three-bay structure ~Ti th various one-story 
In the 1940s it was enlarged and remodeled by 

44. The Huskey House. The oldest part of this one -story frame house 
is three bays Hide vrith a central doorHay, and tvro bays deep vrith small 
>Tindo1vs flanldng a S:ep··shouldered chimney of brick laid in common bond. 
The fireplace opening inside this part of the house is large and arched. 
Apparently a hip-roof porch once extended across the front. Tne house has 
been extended t1;o more bays to the v18st, and several additions have been 
made to the rear, a box cornice installed and a full-Hidth shed porch added 
on the front. 

45. Old Methodist Church. Built in the early 18)0s, this Greek 
Revival church, of rusticated stucco over brick, ·has a three -bay pedimented 
main facade. Large 1-TindoHs flank a central entrance vrhich is framed by 
a crossetted architrave and has a paneled soffit and reveals. The Hell­
proportioned pediment is formed by a most interesting cornice, resembling 
that employed by A. J, Davis in the Playmakers Tneatre. 

Southvrest of th3 campus is a large l;ooded area, Battle Park, l'lhich 
contains the Forest Theatre and Gimghoul Castle. Next to the park is 
Senlac, home of Kemp Battle, for Hhom the park is named. 

. ' 

. 
r· 
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46. Senlac. Senlac Has built about 1843 and considerably enlarged 
in 1876 by Dr, Kemp Battle, who purchased it from his father, the builder. 
The additions included a long front porch and tHo one -story Hings, as vl8ll 
as the southeast porch. As it stands today, follov1ing further extensive 
remodeling done in the 1920s, it consists of a five-bay, tHo-story, gable­
roof main block flanked by projecting one -bay Hings Hi th loH hip roofs, 
Between the Hings is a full-length one-story porch featuring Doric columns. 
Before the 1920s changes it was an Italianate house Hi th an elaborate carnic , 
bracketed posts, and turned balustrade Hith a large bay HindoVT on each Hing. 
The center section Has three rather than five bays 11ide. Little of the 
original interior remains. 

47. Battle Park is the last vestige in Chapel Hill of the vast forest 
that originally covered the entire area. The park consists of t1;o contiguou 
areas, totalling approximately 60 acres. l'lithin the park are the Forest 
Theatre (an amphitheater) and Gimghoul Castle. To vlilliam Meade Prince, 
Hhen he played there as a boy, the park seemed "a perfect and Hell-balanced 
combination of the Garden of Eden, the Forest Primeval, and the Happy 
Hunting Ground. 11 He later described the park as 

a great and beautiful tract of rolling l'loodland lying to the east 
and south of the village. , , bisected and crisscrossed by paths 
and trails through the trees .. , The trees in Battle's Park are 
for the most part oaks, of great variety, and of all sizes and 
ages and shapes. But hickory and maple and ash and poplar and 
birch and beech abound, and dogl;ood and s1;ee t gum and cot tommod 
and sycamore, • . . and mighty· pines here and there. . . The p5.ne-
needle covered earth may be milky Hith bluets, or gold l'lith yelloH 
primroses, or blue l'lith peril·Tinkle flovlSrs. 

48. Forest Theatre. Situated in a natural depression near the ffige 
of Battle Park, the Forest Theatre, constructed of local stone, is very 
much at one Hith its 1woded surroundings. A series of stepped seats lead 
dovm to the stone stage and Hings. A handsome stand of trees provides a 
background for the stage. 

49. Gimghoul Castle. 'I"nis delightful architectural conceit is the 
result of the happy combination of t1·10 most diverse elements--the collegiate 
exuberance of the 1920s and the skill of \Valdensian stonemasons from the 
area of Valdese, North Carolina. As such, it represents the fantasy and 
exhibitionism typical of that ebullient era and at the same time portrays 
the traditions of medieval craftsmanship perpetuated by the \oJaldensian 
settlers in North Carolina. 

The castla has tv1o main components, the tovmr complex and the great 
hall. Tne former consists of three elements: the main circular crenellated 
three-story toHer, a smaller stair turret v1ith conical roof, and a porte-

. ' 
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cochere. The stair turret features small Hindo1vs, Hhile the main tovrer has 
a series of long narrOlv ones of differing lengths. The porte-cochere is so 
ovargr01m 1'1i th ivy that its specific form in uninteJ.J.igible. 

The vrhole of the exterior is constructed of uncoursed random fieldstone. 
This stone VIas literally gathered from the fields of Orange County and brough· 
to this site. The masons made no attempt to produce decorative dressed 
blocks for the openings or the parapet. As a result the building--most 
of it covered lvith ivy--has a 'most organic quality and appears almost to 
have gr01m naturally from the rocky precipice on Hhich it sits. 

The interior vralls of the Hhole building are a superb example of the 
stonemasons 1 art. They are not finished in the same manner as the exterior, 
but have little or no visible mortar in imnation of dry stone construction. 
The great haJ.J. has a flat timber roof Hi th a simple but interesting pattern 
of major and minor beams. So large an expanse of unsupported roof is an 
engineering feat in itself. At intervals along the edges are ornamental 
plaster brackets featuring grotesques. In the end vrall opposite the 
minstrels' gallery is a large stone fireplace. 

. ' 
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lc .. 
From the earliest days of North Carolina's' 'history as a· state, its 

leaders planned to establish a state university. Article 41 of the 
Constitution of North Carolina, ratified December 18, i 776, "provided for 
a school or schools, l'lith th.'e instructors'. salaries financed by the public, 
and provided further that "all useful learning shall be encouraged and 
promoted in one or more universities." Not until 1789, Hhen the legisla­
ture passed bills presented by William R. Davie of Halifa:~ County for 
establishing and chartering a state university, and suitable -financial 
arrangements 1·Tere made, ()lid the establishment of the university begin 
to become a reality. A committee l-Tas chosen by the board of trustees to 
select an appropriate site, to be near the center of the state. The 
committee investigated several locations. NeVT Hope Chapel Hill, named 
after nearby Anglican NeVI Hope Chapel, was chosen partly as a result of thE 
efforts of Hillsborough's James Hogg, l-Tho favored that location and urged· 
friends in the Orange County area to make. generous offers of land and 
money. On December 3, 1792, 'the 'committe'e· unanimously re·comrae·nded 
Chapel Hill as the seat of the university. 

' ·:· -.' .!.·.·; .;~ ':·!['}:'fJ'j.' ".":r:· •.·,, 

The trustees laid out the campus carefully, developing a comprehensive 
plan that included the campus, broad expanses for parks;· and the to1m area. 
The central plan involyHd two wide strips of land at right angles to each 
other, to be used as park hreas, one going east t01·rard Point Prospect and 
the other establishing the primary axis for the campus. It l·Ias a time wher 
the builders of the neVI country sought to lay out plans on an ambitious 
scale appropriate to the great democracy of their ideals. The trustees 
of the nel·T university 11 \·Tith vision and insight," fortunately"conceived in 
comprehensive design and massive proportion" a plan that lwuld be appropri­
ate not only for the time they could forsee but also for the much vTider 
needs of the tl-Tentieth century. - . ,. 

Despite the large scale of their plans, the physical beginnings of 
the university were quite modest. On January 15, 1795, the University of 
North Carolina became the first state university to open its doors. It 
consisted of Old East, an unpainted president's house, and a pile. of lumbeJ. 
The faculty (Dr. David Ker, a graduate of Tcinity College Dublin) Haited 
until February 12 for the arrival of the student body ('Hinton''Jatnes of ther 
NeH Hanover County). By the end of the first term, July 15, forty-one ,. 
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students Here enrolled. The grovrth of the university, run for a time by the 
trustees and a "presidjng professor," was sl01·l. Finances Here often uncertai 
for the 'university's original endo1·ment consisted of old claims on sheriffs 
and other officers, and escheats, including unclaimed land Harrants granted 
to Continental soldiers," collection of 1·1hich Has often difficult. But "by 
constant struggle and periodic appeals for private benefactions, the insti­
tution grevl despite general poverty, opposition to taxation, denominational 
hostility, and sectional controversies. 11 Throughout the early part of the 
nineteenth century, the university remained very small, but under the 
presidency of Joseph Cald1·1ell (1804-1812, 1817-1835), the institution grm·l 
"from a small classical school into a creditable college. 11 In 1826, lvhen 
Professor James Phillips arrived to teach mathematics, the faculty consisted, 
in addition to CaldHell, of Elisha Hi tchell (Chemistry and Mineralogy), 
Nicholas M. Hentz (Modern Languages), and William Hooper (Classics). The 
village of Chapel Hill vlhich depended upon the university 1vas correspondingly 
tiny, <lith a population consisting of these faculty families, a feH tutors, 
and a small number of people Hho ran boardinghouses, a blacksmith shop, and 
a store. 

The second third of the century, under the presidency of former governor 
David L. S1vain, saw considerable grov1th. Sv1ain "did much to popularize the 
University over the vi hole State and to build up its endo;ment. 11 Increasing 
;malth in the state led to a rising number of men being sent to college. In 
1836 the student body numbered 89; in 1839, 169, and in the next decades, 
the Gold Rush and the 1'lider cultivation of cotton stimulated the economy 
further, vrith the result that in 1849 there 1vere 191 students; in 1854, 324; 
and in 1857, 461. · 

During the period before the Civil War, President S1vain took a grm·Ting 
interest :i.n the appearance of the campus. Nstinguished architects Here 
employed to design buildings and improve the landscaping, notably Alexander 
Jackson Davis of Nmv York, lvho had designed the North Carolina Capitol ( 1832-
1844), and v/illiam Percival, vrho had designed a nwnber of structures in the 
region. Professor Elisha Mitchell (an indefatigably curious and enegetic 
scientist 1·1ho measured Mt. Mitchell, establishing it as the highest point in 
the eastern United States) suggested that the inmunerable stones that dotted 
the land might be gathered up to make lovl stone vralls (like those of his 
native Nmv England) to beautify the campus and keep out wandering livestock. 
This project, Hi th SHain 1 s support, 1·1ent on for many years and inspired 
the tmmspeople to build similar vlalls around their 'Lots. Tne l01v stone 
Halls that are today a part of Chapel Hill's charm derive from Mitchell's 
project. 

! 
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Paralleling the growth of the campus, the village of Chapel Hill also 
gre1; dm,ing SHain 1 s administration. Hhen S1·1ain arrived in 1836, the village 
had "but one store; . , . one physician. ; no schools; no churches; no 
pastor; no la1;yer, [By the end of his presidency there were] eight or ten 
flourishing stores; four haJ1dsome churches; , , . half a dozen schools; . . 
and handsome residences had sprung up all over the tmm. . , 11 

The coming of fue Civil lvar, hmvever, had a drastic effect on university 
and village alike. By the 1864~1865 academic year the student body Has 
reduced to about fifty, but Sl'lain refused to close the university, and it 
remained open throughout the v1ar. In April, 1865, Chapel Hill Has occupied 
first by Confederate cavalry and then by Federal troops under General Smith 
B. Atkins (Hho, to the horror of most of the village, fell in love vlith and 
married President Sv1ain 1 s daughter, Ellie, Hhich led to hard feelings against 
S1vain and the university in the bitter post-l·lar days) . Little damage l·las 

· done to Chapel Hill; Sl;ain had previously talked Hi th Sherman about sparing 
the village and campus from destruction. After the Har the university Has 
denounced by Unionists and former Confederates alike, each of v1hom sal'l it 
as harboring reprehensible ideas. Conditions \'lent from bad to Horse. The 
university 1·1as closed; Republican Governor W. l:J, Holden ousted Sv1ain and 
replaced him Hi th Solomon Pool. The university 1vas reopened and 0p3 rated 
for a short time under Reconstructionist control. T'ne campus Has ill-used, 
the quality of instruction Has lmv, the student body decreased, and the 
village population rapidly dvlindled. Finally in 1871 the university closed 
again, Only a f81·1 people living in poverty remained in Chapel Hill, Hhich 
Has aptly called "the Deserted Village, 11 

Friends md alumni of the antebellum university Here determined to reope1 
it. After a "heroic fight," led by long-time Chapel Hill resident, Cornelia 
Spencer, and future president, Kemp Battle, 1'1ho struggled against heavy debts 
and considerable ill l'lill, the university Has at last reopened, March 20, 
1875, by an act of the legislature providing financial support from the 
inters st on Land Scrip Funds. The story is told that 1'1hen the good ne\'1 Has 
sent to Chapel Hill from Raleigh, 

Dr, Battle and Mrs. Spencer , , . l'lent up to the dilapidated, 
shuttered college, Hhere grass grel'l in the paths and cobvl8bs hung 
in the empty classrooms, and the tHo of them pulled the tattered 
rope and rang the bell in the Old South Building. For a solid 
hour they rang it, laughing and crying, and the l'lhole tovm heard 
the joyous peals and knev1 that the good days had come again, 

. ' 

. 
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The grwth of the reopened university 11as "leisurely but steady." Under 
the leadership of President Kemp Batt~e (1876-1891) and other presidents 1·1ho 
foll01·1ed him, the campus, student body, and rotivities of the university 
expanded, although money 11as still hard to come by. It 11as not until 1881 
that the General Assembly appropriated public funds for the maintenance of 
the university. In the early t11entieth century, the university's finances 
became more secure, and its reputation for "scholarship and freedom in 
research and teaching" gre1v. In 1932 the Chapel Hill campus became part of 
the Consolidated University of North Carolina, 1·1hich included campuses at 
other cities as Hell. Many times during its history, the university has 
been charged \·lith being "a 'hotbed; of some 'ism' detested by the majority 
or masses or both: a hotbed of infidelism at various periods, a hotbed of 
Federalism, a hotbed of secessionism before and after the Civil War, a 
hotbed of Unionism afterl'lard, a hotbed of Communism in recent years." At 
these times, one \·Triter observes, "the self~assured dignity of the do¥Tager 
village. . . stares do11n the yappers . 11 For the most part, ho~1ever, the 
university has remained a much-loved and respected center of education in 
the state. It has become as well a large and diversified university ranking 
among the foremost universities regionally and nationally. 

Chapel Hill has al~Tays grown Hith the uni verni ty. ( T01m planning 
officials estimate, year in and year out, roughly a 50-50 ratio between 
student body and to1-1nspeople.) It is today a small, busy, rather. sophisti­
cated to1m l'lhere, despite the rapid development of the campus, residential, 
and commercial areas, a vestige of its old intimacy remains, "its sociabilitJ 
internoven l'lith intellectual liberality." It is a to11n characterized by 
diversity, 1-1here the crustiest of the "old guard" may live just around the 
corner from the most flamboyant representatives of modern life styles.. Yet 
common to nearly every element that makes up Chapel Hill's population is a 
strong a~mreness that it is indeed a special place of unique--and easily 
destroyed--charm. The citizens have Horked hard, l'lith a measure of success, 
to ensure that the "village atmosphere" is not destroyed by "progress." 
Despite the rapid gro1-1th of the uni varsity and the t01m, there are still 
many reminders, most of them appreciatively preserved, of the small, 
struggling village v1ith its campus dotted by a fe1; buildings, that stood in 
the midst of the forest over 150 years ago. 

Dependent upon a university frequently plagued by financial hardship, 
Chapel Hill has never been a Healthy to;m. Most of its buildings are 
relatively modest; its landmarks are rot grand or spectacular. Perhaps the 
most essential element of its heritage is ·an intangible one as important as 
any physical monument: From the earliest days to the present, Chapel Hill 
has inspired in those 1-1ho have knmm it as students, residents, or visitors, 
a special fondness for it as a good place to be. The early residents of 
the village "aluays considered [it] a most satisfactory place to live. All 
the older folk uho began their lives there unite in this testimony. When 
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they left its shady groves they felt that they had left Arcadia behind them," 
Today, this feeling still exists: 

None of us 1·Till go so far as to ·say that it possesses the tranquility 
and soreni ty of the Tvrentie s, Hhen Tnomas \volfe [and others) found 
adventure, melancholy, and beauty in their diverse pursuits on the 
old campus and the une:xplored lands beyond. . . . It is not as small, 
and not quite as nice, but almost, and there is a 1·rhole neH world 
of knmrledge to be discovered here Hith the resources of mind and 
ma~r in abundance. 

! 

1. Davie Poplar. The commission chosen by the board of trustees of the 
neH university investigated a variety of sites during the fall of 1792, 
including the hill near Nel·r Hope Chapel. According to a tradtion (apparently 
first related by Cornelia Spencer and currently vie>red as probably apocryphal , 
the oon®ittee, headed by General William R. Davie, picnicked and then napped 
in the shade of a large tree, After>rards, Davie 11 convinced them that no 
more beautiful spot could be found els01-rhere, 11 and thus was the location 
of the un:hersity decided. Other accounts claim that Davie took a svTitch 
from th3 shading tree and thrust it into the earth to mark the spot; the. 
SHi tch grerr into the great tree n01·T there. The committee did meet here 
on NovEmber 5, 1792 (and certainly in Chapel Hill November picnics are not 
uncommon), but there is no evidence to support the story of the tree. What~ 
ever the degree of truth in its legend, the great tree has long been a 
beloved landmark of the campus, surviving many years and a near-disastrous 
bolt of lightning. 

2. Old East. The oldest standing state university building in the 
country, Old East vras completed in 1795 at a cost of $.5,000. The cornerstone 
1-ras hid October 12, 1793, by William R. Davie; th3 oration Has delivered 
by Samuel E. McCorkle, who had aided Davie in his vigorous efforts to secure 
the university charter from the General Assembly in 17 89. The building Has 
designed by James Patterson and built by Samuel Hopkins. Old East \·Tas 
intended as the north Hing of a large structure to face east along a mile­
long avenue, but Hhen Joseph CaldvTell became president in 1804, the shift 
Has made to a quadrangle form. In 1822 \villi am Nichols, the state arohi te ot, 
added a third story, and in 1844, noted NeH York architect A. J, Davis, whose 
firm had recently finished the North Carolina State Capitol, made further 
changes. It Has his Hork on this contract that led to Davis 1 s being employed 
by the university on several other projects, so that the "brilliant crafts­
man gave of his best talents, intermittently, for a decade to the creation 
of harmonized style in the principal buildings of the campus, 11 as well as 
to the supervising of landscape gardening. The happy results of Davis's 
Hork are still very much a part of the campus. In 1924 the firm of AtHood 
and Nash strengthened the building and restored its east porches. Since 
1966 it has been designated by the National Park Service as a National Histor o 
Landmark. 
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3. Old \'lest. This companion building to Old East 1·1as built in 1822 
by \villi am Nichols, and it has since had additions and rebuilding correspond­
ing to those of Old East, 

4. South Building. Originally called "Main Building," or "Old Main," 
South Building is said to have been planned by Richard Dobbs Spaight, a 
trustee of the nni versi ty Hho signed the Constitution of the United States 
in 1789 and \·las governor of North Carolina from 1792 until 1795. No profes­
sional architect Has employed. The cornerstone \'las laid in 1798, and Hork 
began in )800. The building soon reached about half its height, but because 
of financial difficulties the building Has not completed for fourteen years, 
During this time the students erected cabins inside the \valls as study 
retreats. Finally, after lengthy fund-raising journeys over the state in 
1809 and 1811, President Joseph CaldHell raised $8,220 from donations. The 
sale of western lands added to the fund, so that by 1814 the building was 
completed, Dr. CaldHell maintained a study on tm second floor and, it is 
said, initiated in 1827 "the first systematic observations of the heavens 
in the Uni'l:!ed States," using instruments he had purchased in Europe (some 
of which are nw displayed in the Morehead Planetarium) . 

In the southHest corner of the third floor of the building is the room 
occupied by James !(, Polk Hhile he was a student at the uniiBrsity. Polk, 
t~ho graduated in 1818, later became the eleventh president of the United 
States, 

5. Old \'/ell. The Old VJell, dug in 1797, for many years Has covered 
by a "squalid and ramshackle" cover until 1897 1'1hen President Alderman, 
"determined to tear it dm-m and put something tll8re having beauty, 11 gave 
the well a ne1·1 cover similar to the ornamental structures he had seen in 
English gardens. As university funds for such projects Here "utterly lacking" 
Alderman had a sketch dravm for ·something like the Temple at Versailles and 
had it reproduced "fairly decently at very trifling cost, in \·IOod, 11 by a 
local lumber comp:my. In the early 1900s, use of the 1rell Has stopped vi hen 
via tenmrks vmre installed throughout the campus, but in 1954 the Hell Has 
renel'led and noH contains a drinking fountain. 

6. Person Hall. The east 1'1ing of Person Hall is the second oldest 
building on the campus and was the first chapel erected by a state university 
in the United States, The foundation \'las laid in 1795, and the building 
Has completed in 1797 to serve as the university chapel. It 1ms built by 
Philemon Hodges under the supervision of Samuel Hopkins and named after 
General 'lhomas Per san, a charter trustee of the university v1ho gave nearly 
half the money for its construction. The first university commencement 1·1as 
held here in 1798, as were succeeding commencements until 1837. The builiing 
1·1as used for roligious services and all types of public meetings and lectures. 
After Gerrard Hall was completed in 1838 to serve as the nm·l chapel, Person 
Hall \'las used for a variety of purposes. Additions Here constructed over the 
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years to serve different needs. Today the building, v1ith extensive additions 
is the site of an archaeological laboratory and museum. 

7. Gerrard Hall. Gerrard Hall, begun in 1822 according to the design 
of \'Iilli am Nichols, was completed in 1838 to replace Person Hall as the 
university chapel. '!he building was named for Major Charles Gerrard, Hho 
bequeathed 11,364 acres of his Tennessee land to the university in 1797. 
The sale of this land made the building of Gerrard Hall possible. In 1900 
a south portico vias removed, and in 1938 the building 1·1as remodeled by 
AtHood and Nash. During its history, Gerrard Hall has been the scene of 
many public celebrations, at Hhich occasions speeches Here made by such 
notables as presidents of the United States James K. Polk (Class of 1818), 
Jmnes Buchanan, and Woodrow Wilson. 

8. Playmalcers '!heatre. The subject of a previous nomination, Play­
malcers Theatre Has originally called Smith Hall after Governor Benjamin Smith 
It 1-1as completed in 1851 by Hillsborough builder, John Berry, after the 
designs of N81v York architect, A. J, Davis. It has served a variety of 
purposes, and since the 1920s has housed the nationally-renolmed Playmalcers 
Theatre. 

9. N81·1 East; and 10. Nel-l West. A large increase in the number of 
students during the 1850s made nw buildings necessary. On June 2, 1858, the 
building committee vias directed to construct two buildings upon the plan 
submitted by lfilliam Percival. Percival Has an archi teet l'lhose Hork in 
the central North Carolina area in the late 1850s included tHo fine Gothic 
Revival churches and a number of impressive dl·l8llings. The contractor for 
Nel'l East and Nevi ll'est 11as Thomas Coates, and the final cost for completing 
the buildings (September, 1861) Has $45,702. 

0 

The halls of the Dialectic and Philanthropic Societies ( "D:i'' and "Phi 11 ) 

l'lere located in the upper stories of New East and Nevi \'lest, respectively. 
These societies, dedicated to debating and literary pursuits, founded the 
first libraries on campus, Hhich later led to the 83tablishment of the 
university library in South Building. Their halls, said to have been the 
most elegant rooms on the campus, Here especially noted for their collections 
of portraits. The construction of shelves and alcoves in the libraries of 
the society halls Has ertrusted to Thomas Day of Milton, North Carolina, a 
free Negro reputedly from the vlest Indies, Hho gained considerable fame for 
his excellent l'lork as a cabinetmalcer. 

I 

i' 
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11 . The Joseph Cald;rell Monument. The Joseph CaldHell !1onument came 
from the Horks of Struther and Company of Philadelphia and Has dedicated on 
June 2, 1858. It marks the graves of Joseph CaldHell (1773-1835), the first 
president of the uni varsity; his second Nife, Helen Hogg Hooper of Hillsboroug' 
and her son, v/illiam Hooper, professor of ancient languages at the university. 
As early as 1835, the trustees had decided to build a memorial to be called 
Cald1vell Hall to honor the university's first president; it l'las to be a 
building containing a laboratory, library, and lecture hall. But because 
of the trustees 1 dissatisfaction vrith the vTOrk of the superintendent of 
building, the plan 1vas shelved temporarily and abandoned v1hen funds Here raise 
for the memorial marble monument in 1847· It 1ms not until 1912 that a 
building named Cacilvell Hall Has erected. 

12. Memorial Hall. After the CiVil \•/ar, it \'las many years before the 
university Has able to construct ne1v buildings. The first Has begun in 1822 
but because of insufficient funds Has not completed until 1885. It Has, 
called Nemorial Hall in memory of former president DaVid S;1ain and of the 
uni wrsity' s "heroic sons Hho fell in the serVice of the Confederate States. 11 

By 1925, hol'lever, the building vias declared unsafe; in the next year it l'las 
torn dovrn; and in midsummer of the :tlilloHing year, the ne1·1 Nemorial Hall 
(built by AtHood and Nash) \'las dedicated. The ne1v building should be, 
according to the report of President Chase, na shrine of University history, 
a visible symbol of lvhat it has meant to the state and the nation." The 
original memorial plaques 1vere re-installed in the nel·l building. 

13. The Y.N.C,A.-Y.vi.C.A. Building. The Y.M.C,A.-Y.\>/.C.A. Building 
vras begun in 1904 after tho design of architect Frank Milburn and dedicated 
June 2, 1907. The Y.M.C.A. had been active at the university since 1860, 
meeting in South Building and later in Gerrard Hall before the construction 
of the present "Y" building. 

14. Carr Building. This building viaS constructed by Zachary and 
Zachary in 1899 from plans by architects Pearson and Ashe. The funds for 
the building, originally used as a dormitory, noH as the International 
Student Center, Here given by General Julian s. Carr, of Durham. It has been 
renovated many times, 

15. Bynum Hall. Bynum Hall, also designed by Milburn, l·ms erected in 
1904 in honor of William Preston Bynum Hi th funds given by his uncle of the 
same n&me, The younger Bynum, a member of the university football team, 
class of 1895, had died of typhoid fever at the close of his sophomore 
year, 11uni versally lamented. 11 The elder Bynum J:Tas a distinguished jurist 
Hho served on the state supreme court. The building he donat<'ld in the memory 
of his namesake vras designed for use as a gymnasium, a facility much needed 
and heartily Helcomed by the faculty and students. 

.> 

,, 
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16, Davie Hall. In "belated recognition'! of the Mi versi ty' s foMder, 
lvilliam R. DaVie, this building 11as completed in 1908 by contractor N. Under-
1vood of Durham after architectural plans by Milburn. 

17, H01·1ell Hall. Built in 1906 according to Milburn's designs, the 
structure ;ms known simply as the Chemistry Building Mtil 1925, Hhen the 
chemistry department moved to neH quarters and the Department of Pharmacy 
moved in, The liu:ilding 1ms then named after Ed1·1ard Vernon Hm;ell, the first 
dean of the School of Pharmacy. 

18, Alumni Building. Said to be "readily recognizable as a scaled­
dmm version of till NeH York Public Library, 11 this building ;as also designed 
by Frank ¥lilburn and constructed by Zachary and Zachary .. In the cornerston<j 
laid JMe 1, 1898, Here sketches of presidents CaldHell, S;min, Battle, and 
lvinston, as 1·1ell as other memorabilia. 

19. The Morehead Planetarium. The pla.retarium, designed by Eggers and 
Higgins of Ne1; York, 11as presented as a gift to t'he university from John 
Motley Morehead, class of 1891. The cornerstone was laid November 29, 1947, 
and the building 11as completed in 1949. It is the first planetarium to be 
placed on an American university campus. The original planetarium instrument 
Has inade by Carl Zeiss in Germany and bought by Horehead in Gotenburg, 
SHe den. A second, larger Zeiss instrument was purchased in 1969. From the 
first flight of John Glenn in 1961 to the latest manned space trips, all the 
astronauts have trained at the planetarium. 

20. Spencer Hall. On the site of the first university infirmary was 
built the first 1·10men 1 s dormitory, Spencer Hall, designed by A tHood and Nash 
and built by T. c. Thompson in 1924, The dormitory vias appropriately named 
in honor of Cornelia Phillips Spencer. Mrs. Spencer, 1·1ho had come to Chapel 
Hill as a small child in 1826, was an extremely intelligent, articulate, and 
determined ;mman 11ho was deeply devoted to the university. Despite an early 
loss of hearing, she launched after the CiVil \var a "Hell-reasoned and pro­
foundly emotional 11 campaign to rally the alumni and friends of the university. 
By means of signed and unsigned articles in the neHspapers and an extended 
private correspondence, she played a decisive role in the final success of 
the efforts to reopen the university. Among her friends was Governor Zebulon 
Vance 1·1ho said, "when he heard her called 'the brightest Homan in North 
Carolina, 1 'Don 1 t forget that she's the smartest ~' too·!' 11 

21. The Coker Arboretum. The Arboretum Has foill1ded in ·1903 by v/illiam 
Chambers Coker, professor of botm.ny, "for the enjoyment and education of all 
generations of Miversi ty students. 11 In 1942 the General Education Board 
gave a greenhouse to the arboretum. 

. ' 
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22, Graham Memorial. Graham Memorial Has built as a student union in 

1931 by AtHood and Nash, architects. It vms named for EdHard Kidder Graham, 
president of the university from 1915 to 1918. Vlith the completion of a ne;1 
student union in 1969, Graham Memorial 1'1as turned over to the Carolina 
Playmakers, 

23. Battle-Vance-Pettigr81·I Dormitory. This complex Has built by I. G. 
Lal;rence, contractor, from designs of Milburn's firm. Located on land pur­
chased by the·· university for the purpose, the three connecting buildings 
1·18re completed in 1913. The sections Here named afj:,er Kemp P. Battle, class 
of 1849 and university president from'l876 to 1891; Zebulon B. Vance, class 
of 1855 and governor of North Carolina 1862-1865; and James Johnston Petti­
grel·l, class of 1847 and noted Confederate general. 

24. Hill Hall. Originally called Carnegie Library, this building 1·1as 
completed in 1907 through a grant of $55,000 made by Andr8Vl Carnegie, matched 
by a like amount from subscriptions for endo1;ments for books. Tne building 
1·1as designed by Frank Jl'ri.lburn. The name Has changed in 1930 1·1hen an audi­
torium 1·1as added by a gift of John Sprunt Hill and the use changed to that 
of a music hall. The foundations of the North Carolina Collection and the 
Southern Historical Collection l'lere laid in the Carnegie Library. 

25. Smith Building. This classroom building Has Erected in 1901 by 
Zachary and Zachary from designs by archi teet Frank Jl'ri.lburn. It Has named 
for Governor Benjamin Smith, donor of vast properties in Tennessee to the 
university. 

26. The Monument of the Confederate Soldier. This monument vias 
erected "under the auspices of the N. c. Division of the United Daughters 
of the Confederacy aided by the Alumni of the University," to honor the 
university students Hho toolc part in the Civil Har. The bronze figure is 
by Canadian mulptor, John Wilson. 

27. The Chapel of the Cross. On May 23, 1842, t;Ienty-eight persons 
under the leadership of the Reverend vlilliam Mercer Green, rector of St. 
Matthe1·1 1s Church in Hillsborough and professor of belles-lettres at too 
university, organized a parish. It Has to be knmm as the Church of the 
Atonement of the Protestant Episcopal Church of North America. The building 
of a sanctuary 1;as begun a year later. Delayed by the depression, construc­
tion 1·1as not completed until 1848. Tne church 1</as consecrated in that year 
and named the Chapel of the Cross. The neHer church building th>l.t JlOH .. · • I stand; nearby Here designed by Hobart Upjohn and built in 1924-1925. 

i 
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28. The President 1 s House. This spacious house Has erected in 1907 
to serve as residence for the university president. It stands on the sa'ne 
lot 1·rhere an earlier president 1 s house stood until it burned on Christmas 
Day, 1886. The first occupant of the present building vras Francis P. Venable 
president from 1900 to 1914. 

29. The Spencer House. Built in 1885 by Professor James Lee Love after 
his marriage to June Spencer, Cornelia Spencer 1 s only daughter, this house 
Has the home of Mrs. Spencer as l·rell for many years, l'Thile the Loves lived 
there and after the Loves moved to Cambridge, 1·rhere Professor Love l·Tas 
appointed to the Harvard University faculty. It t·ras here that Mrs. Spencer 
1-rrote a School History of North Carolina as t-Tell as a number of neHspaper 
articles and sketches of the old university. After Mrs. Spencer left Chapel 
Hill in the 1890s, the house Has purchased by the university and used to 
house faculty members, 

30. Dr. Caldt·rell's Meridian. Joseph CaldNell, first president of 
the university, "deserves to rank high as a pioneer in astronomical science 
in America." He persuaded the board of trustees to allot money for the 
purchase of scientific books and instruments, including various telescopes, 
an astronomical clock, a sextant, and a quadrant for the university. He 
vrent to Europe to purchaae the equipment l'lhich Has used to establish the 
first observatory on a state college campus in America. On the roof of his 
house, vrhich stood east of the present president 1 s house and on the same 
lot, Cald1rell built a platform from l'Thich he observed the heavens and pointed 
out astronomical features to students. Still standing in the rear of the 
lot Hhere his house stood are the tHo brick pillars he built in his garden, 
"the east and vrest faces carefully ground into the same plane, marking the 
true meridian." A tablet nearby identifies the pillars. 

31 . The Phillips Lmr Office. Tnis small building Has erected in the 
1840s by Samuel Phillips to serve as a laH office. In 1847 Phillips used 
the structure as a preparatory school for boys. It also was used by 
l\Tilliam Horn Battle for classes of the first lm-T school of the university .. 
It vras the first lavr office in 0 Chapel Hill and is particularly notable for 
haVing been shared by two of the tovrn 1 s most distinguished early residents, 
Samuel Phillips and l\Tilliam Battle, In recent years it has been much sought 
after as a residence by students and faculty alike. 

i 
I 
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32. '!he Phillips House. The house 1·ras built in.1856 by Samuel Phillips 
brother of Cornelia Phillips Spencer. Samuel Phillips graduated from the 
tmiversity at thelrlad of his class in 1841 and soon became a ;~ell-known 
la;~yer, He 1vas a finn Unionist, opposing secession. After the Civil lfar he 
became identified with the Reconstructionist arm of the Whig party and finall: 
became a leader in the Republican Party. Under Republican Governor Holden, 
Phillips served in several influential government positions. ·His politics 
caused considerable dismay among his Chapel Hill .friends and relatives, 
but he ;~as regarded as being sincere jn his beliefs and honest in his dealing , 
unlike many of the more opportunistic Reconstructionists. Despite political 
disagreements, the family ties remained close. After Samuel moved to Raleigh 
in 1868, his sister, Cornelia, occupied his house for a time. Samuel later 
moved to 1'/ashington, D.c., Hhere he continued his laH career, but at his 01m 
l'lish he Has buried in Chapel Hill, which he ah1ays considered home. '!he 
house passed through several hands and is n01v in the possession of the 
Coennen family. 

33. The VlidoH Puckett House. The building date of this house is 
uncertain. The lot on Hhich it stands Has bought by a Mr. Puckett from 
John Craig in 1817, (A Mr. Puckett had had students as boarders in toHn 
as early as 1795.) In 1820 Professor Denison Olmsted, a scientist Hho 
came from Yale, purchased the lot and probably a house that had been erected 
on it. lfhen in 1826 Dr. James Phillips came 1·1ith his family to Chapel Hill 
from Harlem, Ne1v York, to serve as mathematics professor for the university, 
he moved into this house. The family that gre1·1 up in the house Has to become 
one of the most influential in the village and to gain considerable prominenc 
in the state as 1vell. His daughter vias Cornelia Phillips Spencer and his 
wo sons WGre Samuel Phillips (see above) and Charles Phillips, Hho served 
as professor of applied mathematics at the university. 

34, The Presbyterian Manse. '!his house vras the home of Dr. Charles 
Phillips, chairman of the faculty 11hen the university reopened in 1875. He 
Has professor of mathemat:'cs. like:Jti:3 father before him. It is said that v1hen 
in April, 1865, Chapel Hill vias approached by a force of Federal calvary 
under Brigadier General Smith Atkins, Phillips rode his horse out the Raleigh 
road and, obtaining an interview vr.ith Atkins, persuaded him to protect the 
university and the village. A tlcins reported that Sherman had already gi. ven 
orders to this effect. From the early h18ntieth century until 1960 the 
house served as manse for the minister of the Presbyterian Church and 
recently has been a private residence. 

' 
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35. The Cobb House. The prop9 rty >~here the Cobb House stands Has o~msd 
from 1848 to 1893 by Charles Phillips and later his >Tidm·r, Laura. In 1893 
Laura Phillips sold the property to Collier Cobb, vrho is thought to have 
built the house and vrho mmsd it until 1934, sines vrhich time it has been 
otmsd by his heirs. Collier Cobb, for nnny years head of the Department of 
Geology, t·ras one of five faculty members t·Tho founded the not·T l'Tidely respected 
University of .North Carolina Press in 1893. He is also said to have suggests 
the use of the 11\·lestovsr Door" on South Building. 

36. The Horace \Villiams House. The Horace \'lilliams House, also knovm 
as the "Hexagon House," l'Tas built before the Civil Vlar by Professor B. S. 
Hendrick; it is said that Hendrick, a mathematician, built the house as a 
hexagon because he had learned that the hexagonal bee-hive cell is one of 
the strongest structures in nature. The house vras later o;msd by Horace 
Williams, professor of philosophy, ;rho held seminars there and tvslcomed his 
students to come and talk over their problems .. l.filliams Has t·mll-kno\>m 
for his independence of mind. The story is to~d that t·Then \Villiams first 
came to the uni vsrsi ty in 1891, he 1vas summoned by Cornelia Spencer; she 
told him he should teach "Christian philosophy." He retorted that he Hould, 
provided she tell her son-in-la>~, Professor Love, to snti tls his course 
"Christian mathematics." Mrs. Spencer pressed the issue no further, and the 
tHo became good friends. 

37. The Umstead House. This house Has built in 1922 by James Finch 
Royster, t·rho \vas dean of the graduate school at the mi vsrsi ty from 1925 until 
1930. Royster's nephevr, Vermont Royster, served for many years as editor 
of the \•fall Street Journal. In 1933 the house Has purchased by John Umstead, 
state senator and brother of Governor l'lilliam B. Umstead. 

38. The HoHe House. The land on Hhich this house stands Has purchased 
from the university by George Ho>~e in 1905, and the house I·Tas apparently 
built shortly thereafter. It has had several ovmsrs since then and is noH 
mmed by Mr. and }Irs. R. B. Fitch. 

39. The Lal'Tson House . The house Has built in 1880 by F. K. Ball, 
given to the university in 1896, and leased back to him for fifty years. 
When Ball left in 1907, the house vTas leased April 1, 1907, to Dr. R. B. 
LaHson, Hho purchased it in June of that year. 

40. The Kennette House; This house ;ms built in 1905 by Charles 
Baskerville, vrho purchased the lot early in that year for $500 and sold it 
in July to Charles Harty for $4,500. Miss Ella Kennette purchased the house 
in 1920 and has lived there ever since. 
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41. The Hooper-Kyser House. Shortly after the turn of the nineteenth 
century Helen Ho@g Hooper moved to Chapel Hill. She was daughter of the 
James Hogg 1vho had been influential in locating the uni varsity at Chapel 
Hill and lvidmv of William Hooper, son of the prominent North Carolina lmTyer 
l'lhO had been one of the signers of the D3claration of Independence. It is 
said that she came to Chapel Hill from Hillsborough so that her tvTO sons 
could attend the university. Some years later Mrs. Hooper married Joseph 
Cald1·mll, a l'lidol'ler who I-T as president of the university. Her son, ivilliam 
Hooper, became the first professor of ancient languages there. Upon i'/illiam 1 

graduation from the university in 1814, his stepfather, President Caldl·Tell, 
bequeathed him the property at the southeast corner of Franklin Street and 
Battle Lane, !'lhere Hooper soon began to build the house that still stands 
there. This house and the president's house (no1·T gone) HEre until after 
the Civil vlar the only houses on the· south side of East Franklin Street. 
Hooper moved away to South Carolina and later became president of vlake 
Forest College (1846). He is buried on the university campus near the 
Caldwell Monument. The house has had several owners, and it is currently 
mmed by Kay Kyser, popular band leader. 

42, Dey House, No definite building date is knovm, but it seems likely 
that this house !'las probably built betvTeen 1875 and 1885, by Joseph B. Martin 
1-Tho purchased the proprty I-T here it stands, along Hith tHo other lots in 
1871 and left it to his I·Tife in 1898. Since then it has been held by several 
Ol'lners, including yJ, M, D3y, HhOse heirs DOH 0\'ln the house, 

43. Mangum-Smith House. The house seems to have been built betl-Teen 
1853 and 1858, probably by Isaac Coll~er, vTho is thought to have been one 
of the supervisors of the additions to Old East and Old West, and may have 
been given the land as part payment. In 1858 Andre1-1 Mickle !'las given the 
land, but he seems to have resided there the year before. An 1866 conveyance 
of the pro)VJl'ty definitely mentions a house there. From 1885 to 1890 it 1-Tas 
mmed by Dr. Adolphus Mangum, a professor, and in 1944 it VIas purchased 
from his heirs by Betty Smith Jones, a novelist best knovm for A Tree GrmJ.s 
in Brooklyn. 

44. The Huskey House. Apparently the earliest part of this house Has 
built in the first third of the nineteenth century. It vms later o;med by 
John Huskey, who served as the village blacksmith in the mid-nineteenth 
century. 

45. Old Methodist Church. This building vTas constructed in 1853. The 
first pastor !'las the Rave rend J. l1il ton Frost. Originally the church l'ad a 
small belfry, nm·T stored in the attic. . In 1922 the building !'las purchased 
by I. M. Tull, I·Tho used it as a garage, and it continued this use under 
a Mr. Pickles for many years. Since 1963 it has been used for offices. 

'· 
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46. Senlac. Built in 1843 by William Horn Battle, fmmder of the 
University of North Carolina lt<I·T school, the house 1vas the childhood home 
of 1'/illiam Battle 1 s son, Kemp, Hho ·lvas later to become president of the 
university. Kemp Battle returned to Chapel Hill to assume the office of 
president after living in Rale0igh for several years Hhere he had been a 
lmvyer prominent in political affairs. He decided to purchase the house 
he had grmvn up in, to 1·Thich he ~ias 'greatly attached," rather than live in 
the uni versi ty-mmed residence that usually served as the president 1 s home. 
He named the house, which he had considerably enlarged and remodeled, after 
the hill Nhere Harold surrendered to l'lilliam the Conqueror. In the 1920s 
the house 1vas further remodeled by Dr. John Booker, husband of Kemp Battle's 
granddaughter. It is nmv used as a Baptist Student Center. 

47. Battle Park. Most, if not all, of the land included in BB.ttls 
Park is part of the land donated by Hardy Morgan to the uni varsity in 1796. 
Through a complicated chain of transfers, part of the land nOYT lvithin the par· 
was he1d by other parties, being knmm as the Cameron property, but in 1909 
it returned to the university possession. At several points the forested 
area has been threatened. In 1832 President Caldlvsll, "outraged by the 
depredations of the villagers in the 1voodlands of the University . . 
recommended, but vTithout avail, the employment of a forest ranger to put 
a stop to the abuse." In 1880 a sale of university lands vras held to satisflr 
claims of Mildred Cameron and D. L. S1vain (loans that had been mads to enable 
the completion of NeN East and Nm·T Hest in the 1850s). After an appeal 
by Cornelia Spencer, Paul Cameron of Hillsborough took over the lands, much 
of 1·Thich lay in the present Battle Park area, saving the Hoodlands from 
possible destruction. Some <i' this acreage vras acquired by the Junior Order 
of Gimghouls to afford a site for Gimghoul Castle. During his presidency 
( 1876-1891) and ai'tervrard, Dr. Kemp Battle loved these Hoods and spent long 
hours there, clearing paths with his hatchet, "making bridges and seats 
and introducing his friends and students to his favorite spots" to vrhich 
he gave names like "Vale of Ions, 11 "Dogvrood Dingle, 11 and "Anemone Spring. 11 

On a stone seat near Gimghoul Castle, a tablet recalls Dr. Battle's memory, 
declaring that he "knsH and loved these 1wods as no one else. 11 The seat 
is built of stones brought by students to build up a cairn, a pet project 
of Dr. Battle 1 s, knol'Tn as the Freshman Rock Pile. 

48. Forest T'neatre. The first performance given in the alll]:h:itheater 
in Battle Park 1·Tas The Taming of the Shr81·T, presented in 1919. The iffiater 
was remodeled in 1940 at a cost of $20,000, the funds being supplied by the 
l'Jorks Projects Administration, The theater is rned for various outdoor func­
tions, including annual plays performed by the Carolina Playmaksrs. 
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49. Gimghoul Castle, This medieval-looking structure 11 o;ms its existen e 
to the romantic fancies of a la1-1 student, Edv1ard '<I ray l1artin, 11 Hho, vi hen a 
la1-1 student at the university, spent nruch time in the forest. From Piney 
Prospect, a prominent lookout point, he named the forest Glandon Forest and 
imagined a great gloomy pile standing at the edge of the cliff, lfhich he name 
Hippol Castle. l1artin, a devoted reader of Arthurian and other medieval 
legends, died in Arkansas in 1896. But in 1915, Perrin Busbee and George 
Stephens led the secret ordec called the Gimghouls Hho had a lodge on 
Rosemacy Street, to buy 94 acres of land at Piney Prospect. In 1922 tv1o othe 
members lfere named on a committee directed to see about a building for the 
organization to be "medieval and0 mysterious looking," and in 1924, N. C. Curt s, 
a graduate of the university and professional architect, Has engaged to 
design such a building. Tne next year lvaldensian masons from Valdese, ·· 
North Carolina, came to build the structure Curtis had designed. Tne castle, 
1-1hich cost something over $50,000, vias completed and occupied by the Gimghoul 
in 1926, thirty years after the death of the young dreamer 1·1ho had first 
visualized a medieval castle on thevooded cliff, 
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Begin on the east side of Henderson Street 100 feet north of its juncti n 
1-1ith East Rosemary Street. Continue south along Henderson Street, across 
Franklin Street, and then west along Franldin Street about 100 feet to a 
~mlkway about 60 feet rrest of Battle-Vance Pettigre\·l Building (about 710 fee 
east of Columbia Street) with the rrallmay southHard parallel to Columbia 
Street to the walkHay next northrrard of Hill Hall, thence westHard parallel 
to Franklin Street to a drivevTay running southHard just eastVTard of Evergree 
House, \vest Hous" and S1·1ain Hall to the north side of Cameron Avenue, thence 
east1-1ard along Cameron Avenue about 162 feet, thence southward parallel to 
Columbia Street along a line just east of Phillips Hall, thence east>rard· 
parallel to Cameron Avenue m~stly along tre Hallmay just north of Hanes Hall 
to a driveHay next 1·1est of Steele Building, thence northward parallel to 
Columbia Street about 155 feet, thence eastward parallel to Cameron Avenue 
along a line halfway between Steele Building and Playmakers Theatre, thence 
easterly just north of the same building to the pathway immediately east 
of Playmakers there southerly vli th the line of this pathrray to the road-
way just south of Bynum Hall, thence easterly along this roadl·TaY about 
230 feet, thence northward so as to pass half;my bet;Teen Carr Building on 
the rl8st and CaldHell Hall on the east, thence to the north side of Cameron 
Avenue, t.hence 1-lith Cameron Avenue eastward to Raleigh street, vlhere Cruneron 

1 Avenue becomes Country Club Road, thence southeast along Country Club Road, 
) thence along the various boundary lines of Battle Park until the line inter­
\ sects East Franklin Street just east of the Hm·Te House at the junction of 
;I East Franklin Street and Park Place, thence 1·1est on East Franldin Street to 

' , a point just east of the Umstead House property, thence north1·1ardly to the 
1 south side of East Rosemary Street,. thence west along the south side of 
\ East Rosemary Street, to a point just east of the Dey House property, thence 

I north to the back line of said property, thence west along a line 100 feet 
north of a parallel to East Rosemary Street to the beginning. 
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· Key to Map Numbers 

Campus 

1 , Davia Poplar 
2. Old East 
3. Old Wast 

· 4. South Building 
5. Old Well 
6. Person Hall 
7. Gerrard Hall 
8. Playmakars Theatre 
9· New East 

10. New Wast 
11. Caldwell Monument 
12, Memorial Hall 
13. Y.M.c.A.--Y.w.o.A. Building 
14. Carr Building 
15. Bymnn Hall 
16. Davie Hall 
17 • Howell Hall 
18. Alumni Building 
19. ·Morehead Planetarium 
20. Spencer Hall 
21, Coker Aboratum 
22. Graham Memorial 

.. ' 

23. Battle-Vance-Pettigrew Dormitory 
·24. Hill Hall 
25. Smith Building 
26. The Monument of the Confederate 

Soldier 

0 

' Franklin and Rosemary streets 

· 27. Ohapal of the Cross 
28. President 1 s House 
29. Spencer House 
30, Caldwell's Meridian · 
31 •. Phillips Law Office 
32. Phillips House 
33. Widow Puckett House 
34. Presbyterian Manse 
· 35. Cobb House 
36. Horace Williams House 
37. Umstead House 
38 • Howe House 
39, Lawson House ' 
40'. Kennette House 
4 (, Hooper-Kyser House 
42. Dey House 
43·, Mangum-Smith House 
44, Huskey House 
45. Methodist Ohurch 

Battle Park Area 

46. Senlac:J 
47. Battle Park 
48. Forest Theatre 
49. Gimi:aoul C!lstle 
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